IN THE IOWA SUPREME COURT

NO. 20-0353 CIVIL

DENNIS BECHER

APPLICANT-APPELLANT

v.

STATE OF IOWA

RESPONDENT-APPELLEE.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT OF DUBUQUE COUNTY HONORABLE MICHAEL J. SHUBATT

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

STOWERS & SARCONE PLC Nicholas A. Sarcone West Glen Town Center 650 S. Prairie View Drive, Suite 130 West Des Moines, IA 50266 Telephone: (515) 224-7446

Fax: (515) 225-6215

Email: nick@stowerssarcone.com ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. THE DISTRICT COURT IMPROPERLY INTERPRETED THE LEGISLATIVE PURPOSE OF IOWA CODE SECTION 692A.128, APPLIED AN IMPROPER LEGAL STANDARD IN CONSIDERING AND DENYING MR. BECHER'S REQUEST FOR SEX OFFENDER REGISTRY MODIFICATION AND THEREFORE ABUSED ITS DISCRETION.

Iowa Code Section 692A.128

Iowa Code Section 692A.128(2)(a-e)

In re A.J.M., 847 N.W.2d 601, 605 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Coleman, 907 N.W.2d 124 (Iowa 2018)

State v. Valin, 724 N.W.2d 440 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Gomez Garcia, 904 N.W.2d 172, 177 (Iowa 2017)

Iowa Code Section 692A.103(3)

Iowa Code Section 903A.2(1)(a)(2)

State v. Cox, 908 N.W.2d 882 (Table), *5 (Iowa Ct. App. 2017)

Iowa Code Section 692A.128(2)

State v. Iowa Dist. Court ex rel. Story County, 843 N.W.2d 76 (Iowa 2004) Iowa Code Section 692A.128(6)

II. EVEN IF THE DISTRICT COURT APPLIED THE PROPER LEGAL STANDARD ITS CONCLUSIONS ARE NOT SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND THE COURT THEREFORE ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING MR. BECHER'S APPLICATION TO MODIFY.

State v. Valin, 724 N.W.2d 440 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Gomez Garcia, 904 N.W.2d 172, 177 (Iowa 2017)

ROUTING STATEMENT AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

The issues raised are important issues of first impression for this Court. The text of Iowa Code Section 692A.128 provides no guidance for a district court's exercise of its discretion in considering a sex offender's application to modify his/her registration requirements. The district court said as much in its Ruling.

There is no appellate caselaw on the matter either. The Iowa Supreme Court should retain this case, interpret the legislative purpose behind Iowa Code Section 692A.128 and determine the proper legal standard district courts should employ in exercising their discretion under Iowa Code Section 692A.128¹. Appellant Dennis Becher, therefore requests that the Supreme Court retain jurisdiction. Mr. Becher additionally requests 15 minutes per side at oral argument.

¹ Undersigned Counsel litigates many of these cases every year and this issue consistently arises.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

Mr. Becher appeals from rulings denying his Application to Modify Sex

Offender Registration Requirements and his Motion to Reconsider and Enlarge the

Court's Ruling.

B. Course of Proceedings and Disposition in District Court

Mr. Becher filed his Application to Modify (hereinafter Application) on October 29, 2019. He filed a Motion to Seal his Sex Offender Modification Evaluation on October 31, 2019. That Motion was granted on November 4, 2019. The Department of Correctional Services Evaluation was filed on November 6, 2019. The State filed a Resistance to the Application on December 4, 2019. Hearing on the matter was held on January 3, 2020. The Court denied the Application on January 14, 2020. Mr. Becher filed a Motion to Enlarge on January 15, 2020. Resistance to that Motion was filed on January 24, 2020. The Motion to Enlarge was denied January 29, 2020. A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on February 25, 2020.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At age 33², Dennis Becher pled guilty to and was convicted of two counts of Sexual Abuse in the Third Degree on June 2, 2000 (less than three months after he was charged) for touching his step-daughter. Mr. Becher was sentenced to consecutive terms of ten-years imprisonment, for a term of twenty-years. Mr. Becher discharged his sentence while in prison on May 10, 2009. (CA³5-9). He was subsequently released. While in prison Mr. Becher participated in and completed at least fifteen (15) treatment programs⁴. Id. His prison discharge report stated as follows:

The offender has done well at MPCF. He has worked as an offender clerk for over four years. He has done an above average job in treatment. In eight years of incarceration, he has not received any disciplinary reports. The offender has some connections to the Chapel and church groups in the area. He was able to balance God and treatment. He poured himself into treatment just as hard as he poured himself into church and his religious classes. Offender did complete a correspondence course in religious studies that is equivalent to an AA degree.

Id. After discharging his prison sentence, Mr. Becher became required to register as a sex offender with the State of Iowa Sex Offender Registry. (CA5-9). He has

² Mr. Becher is now age 53.

³ "CA" refers to the Confidential Appendix in this matter.

⁴ The evaluation further notes that he completed all required treatment. See Iowa Code Section 692A.128(2)(b).

been on the registry since June 2, 2009 and has never committed a violation of his registration requirements. Id.

In preparation for filing his Application, Mr. Becher obtained a clinical evaluation and risk assessment from the 1st Judicial District Department of Correctional Services, as designee for the Department of Corrections, as required by Iowa Code Section 692A.128(2)(c). Id. This evaluation was completed on September 4, 2019. The risk assessment portion of the Evaluation utilized three "static" risk assessments; the Static-99R, the ISORA and the Stable 2007. Id. Static risk assessments are risk assessments whose questions never change. The only thing that can change is the answers/data inputs.

The Stable 2007 is a risk assessment developed by Dr. Karl Hanson and Andrew Harris from their clinical research in the Dynamic Supervision Project.

Mr. Becher scored a low risk to reoffend on this risk assessment tool. Id. When this tool is combined with the Static-99R, discussed infra, for a more comprehensive risk profile, Mr. Becher also scored as a low risk to reoffend. Id.

The ISORA is a risk assessment that was developed by the Iowa Division of Criminal and Juvenile Justice Planning Office and normed and validated in Iowa, using Iowa registrants/offenders. Id. This is the only risk assessment tool normed and validated in Iowa, by the State of Iowa, for Iowa offenders. Mr. Becher again scored in the low risk level to reoffend. When the ISORA is combined with the

Static-99R for a more comprehensive risk profile, Mr. Becher again scores as a low risk to reoffend. Id.

The Static-99R is a risk assessment that was developed in Canada and has been validated across a number of jurisdictions, including Iowa. Id. The risk levels in the Static-99R include Level IV(b) – well above average risk, Level IV(a) – Above average risk, Level III – average risk, Level II – below average risk and Level I – very low risk. Id. Thus, there is not a "low risk" category for the Static-99R. Id. Additionally, the Static-99R coding book, requires an evaluator to look at time an offender has spent offense free in the community in assessing a person's overall risk. Id. This is because the Static-99R is ONLY validated for offenders at the time of release (from prison) into the community. Id. For every five years in the community offense-free, the offenders risk halves. Id. Thus, while Mr. Becher scored a zero (0) on the Static-99R, placing him the "below average risk" category, when his Static-99R score is considered in light of his time offense free in the community (ten years), his actual risk of reoffending falls to the very low risk category. Id. As the psychologist noted in the Evaluation: "Using the Years Sexual Offense Free in the Community (graph attached), Mr. Becher's score of 0 on the Static-99R, though unchanging (static) actually reflects a risk Level I when considering the amount of time that has passed since his offense release." Id. Mr.

Becher therefore, scores a "very low risk" to reoffend on the Static-99R when considered in light of his time offense free in the community.

At the hearing on the Application, Mr. Becher and his friend/mentor, Ed Bateman were the only witnesses. Mr. Becher testified that he spent nine-years and two months in prison. (CA16). He testified that he completed all required treatment in prison and a polygraph. (CA16). He further testified that he is a Tier III registrant and has been on the Sex Offender Registry since 2009. (CA15). He also testified he lives in Dubuque County, Iowa. (CA24).

Moreover, Mr. Becher testified that he has been gainfully since his release from prison. (CA18). He testified that he has not committed any new criminal offenses, of any variety, since his underlying sex offense. (CA18). He testified that he was married for eight years from 2009 to 2017 and that his wife was aware of his registration status. (CA14-15). He is also currently engaged to a woman he has been involved with for over seventeen (17) months and she is aware of his registration status. Id.

Next, Mr. Becher testified that he learned a great many things from his treatment in prison. (CA16-18). Mr. Becher learned about empathy, his anger and resentment from childhood and how those things contributed to his offense. Id. He also learned positive ways of coping with those feelings. Id. He was able to openly talk about what he did and express that his victim is still a victim even today.

(CA27-28, 32). Mr. Becher also testified that he does not have any desire to reoffend. (CA36). Mr. Becher also testified that his mental health is stable, he has a great support system and knows how to handle times when he is feeling depressed. (CA36-37).

The only other witness to testify was Ed Batemen. Mr. Bateman worked with Mr. Becher as his pastor, counselor and teacher while in prison and they are now close friends. (CA40-42). Mr. Batemen is eighty-seven years old and continues to work as a volunteer chaplain in the Iowa Prison system. (CA39). Mr. Bateman had good things to say about Mr. Becher and was emphatic that of all the inmates he had worked with over fifty to sixty years, he had no doubt Mr. Becher would not reoffend. (CA43). In fact, he would bet his life on it. Id.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT IMPROPERLY INTERPRETED THE LEGISLATIVE PURPOSE OF IOWA CODE SECTION 692A.128, APPLIED AN IMPROPER LEGAL STANDARD IN CONSIDERING AND DENYING MR. BECHER'S REQUEST FOR SEX OFFENDER REGISTRY MODIFICATION AND THEREFORE ABUSED ITS DISCRETION.

The district court, in its order denying Mr. Becher's Petition, found that, "The language of §692A.128 is discretionary and provides no guidance as to what the Court should consider in making its decision." This is not entirely correct.

There are criteria set forth in §692A.128 the district court must consider in making

its modification decision. §692A.128(2)(a-e). Moreover, even if the decision is largely discretionary, the "absence of statutory guidelines" does "not permit the discretion to be based on an erroneous interpretation of application of the statute." In re A.J.M., 847 N.W.2d 601, 605 (Iowa 2014). Though, no case exists which interprets how the Court is to wield the discretion given it in §692A.128, the analogous juvenile waiver provision in §692A.103(3), as interpreted in In re A.J.M., provide an excellent analytical framework for interpreting §692A.128. Mr. Becher argues here, as he did in the district court, that the overall purpose of Chapter 692A is protection of the public, the legislative purpose is to relieve the requirements of registration for individuals not likely to reoffend, and that the legal standard the court must apply is to determine whether an individual is likely to reoffend. Thus, a proper interpretation of §692A.128, in accord with the legislative purpose of the statute and application of the correct legal standard, requires the district court to first consider whether the threshold criteria in §692A.128(2)(a-e) have been satisfied and then consider whether Mr. Becher is likely to reoffend in light of all the evidence presented.

A. Standard of Review

The standard of review in this case is two-fold. When the interpretation of a statute is at issue the standard of review is for correction of errors at law. <u>State v.</u> Coleman, 907 N.W.2d 124 (Iowa 2018). When the district court is engaged in an

exercise of its discretion the review is for an abuse of that discretion. <u>State v. Valin</u>, 724 N.W.2d 440 (Iowa 2006). Moreover an, "Abuse of discretion occurs when a district court exercises its discretion on grounds or for reasons clearly untenable or to an extent clearly unreasonable. A ground or reason is untenable when it is not supported by substantial evidence or when it is based on an erroneous application of the law." <u>State v. Gomez Garcia</u>, 904 N.W.2d 172, 177 (Iowa 2017)(citations omitted).

B. Error Preservation

Error was preserved by the filing of the Petition, hearing on the Petition and by the filing of the Motion to Reconsider and Enlarge the Court's Ruling⁵.

C. The Iowa Supreme Court's Interpretation of the Juvenile Waiver Provision in §692A.103(3) Informs the Legal Standard for Modification in §692A.128.

In, <u>In re A.J.M.</u>, the Iowa Supreme Court interpreted the purpose of legal standards to be employed, in the juvenile waiver provision under §692A.103(3)⁶.

A.J.M. involved a challenge by the State, to the juvenile court's waiver of A.J.M.'s requirement to register. <u>Id</u>. at 602. The State claimed on appeal that the juvenile court abused its discretion in waiving the registration requirement. Id. at 604. That

⁵ Specifically addressing the statutory interpretation issues raised herein.

⁶ §692A.103(3) states: A juvenile adjudicated delinquent for an offense that requires registration shall be required to register as required in this chapter unless the juvenile court waives the requirement and finds that the person should not be required to registers under this chapter.

statute, like the one at issue here, does not contain any "specific guidelines" for courts to employ in exercising their discretion, Id. at 605. However, the Court noted that the lack of specific guidelines does not mean the court's discretion is "unbridled." Id. That discretion must be based on a proper "interpretation or application of the statute." Id. Thus, the Court determined to construe the statute and the applicable legal standards, "in light of the legislative purpose" of the statute. Id.

The Court begins by noting that the "paramount purpose of the sex offender registry requirement is to protect society from sex offenders after they have been released back into society following disposition of their case." Id. at 604 (citations omitted). The Court then goes on to interpret the specific legislative purpose of the waiver provision. Id. at 605. The Court discusses research regarding recidivism risks for juveniles before concluding that,

It is reasonable to conclude that our legislature would have considered this research as the purpose for enacting the waiver provisions. While sex offender registration exists to protect the public from reoffenders, protection can also be achieved by the lower risk of recidivism for juveniles. Thus, the purpose of the statutory waiver of registration is to relieve juveniles who are not likely to reoffend of the requirement to register as a sex offender.

Id. at 605-06. Having interpreted the legislative purpose of the statute the Court goes on to set forth the legal standards for courts to apply,

Accordingly, the legal standard for waiver under the statute is guided by public protection. Waiver is available when the juvenile court "finds" in its discretion that the eligible juvenile is not likely to reoffend. If an eligible juvenile is not initially granted a waiver under this standard, the juvenile may then move to modify or suspend to obtain relief from the consequences of registration. *See id.* 692A.103(5). In this way, juveniles who must register can still minimize or alleviate some of the consequences of registration.

In applying these standards, it is important to recognize it is possible for any juvenile sex offender to reoffend. Yet, the mere possibility of reoffending does not preclude waiver or subsequent modification. The standard intended by our legislature is built on a likelihood of reoffending. This means the risk of reoffending would be "probable or reasonably to be expected." *Cf. In re Foster*, 426 N.W.2d 374, 377 (Iowa 1988) (considering the word "likely" in a statute to mean "probable or reasonably to be expected"). While the standard is not exact, neither is the protection registration affords the public. Registration does not eliminate the risk for an offender to reoffend. There is much at stake for both the juvenile and the public in the analysis, which explains the discretion given to juvenile courts to make the decision by balancing all considerations.

<u>Id</u>. at 606–07. Thus, the purpose of the juvenile waiver statute is to relieve juveniles who are not likely to reoffend of the requirements to register. This is consistent with the overarching purpose of Chapter 692A, protection of the public, because only persons with a low likelihood of re-offense are waived. The legal standard, consistent with the purpose of the statute, a court must employ is exercising its discretion to waive a juvenile, is whether or not the juvenile is likely to reoffend. The district court's failure to employ this standard is an error of law and constitutes a per se abuse of discretion.

D. The Legislative Purpose of §692A.128, Like §692A.103(3), is to Relieve Those Persons who are Not Likely to Reoffend, from the Requirement to Register.

The Iowa Supreme Court is clear that the overarching purpose of Chapter 692A is protection of the public; something the district court correctly noted in its ruling. <u>Id.</u> at 604. (A⁷6-8). However, that is where the district court stopped its analysis of the legal standards it must employ in exercising its discretion. The district court, noting that the statute offers no specific guideline for the exercise of its discretion, made no attempt to discern the specific legislative purpose of §692A.128 to inform its exercise of its discretion. This is where the rails went off the track.

The district court's application of its discretion cannot be based on an incorrect interpretation or application of the statute. <u>A.J.M.</u>, 847 N.W.2d at 605. It is true that §692A.128 does not contain specific guidelines on the ultimate exercise of the court's discretion. However, unlike §692A.103(3) it does set forth a number of initial criteria the Court must consider in making its modification determination. This criteria, contained in §692A.128(2)(a-e), are almost all geared toward the likelihood of re-offense⁸. In evaluating the legislative purpose of the statute, these criteria are important. That all of the initial considerations for modification

⁷ "A" refers to the Appendix in this matter.

⁸ §692A.128(2)(a) – time on the registry, (b) successful completion of treatment, (c) risk assessment, (d) incarceration.

surround the likelihood of re-offense, makes it highly probable that the purpose of the statute is to provide those individuals who are a low risk to reoffend, relief from the registration requirements.

This legislative purpose is bolstered by the academic research regarding recidivism generally, and as offered by the evaluator in the evaluation. It is well known that recidivism rates decline for those who have successfully completed treatment. It is also well known that this is the reason treatment is required for sex offenders. In fact, the legislature even prohibits the earning of good time credits for sex offenders until after they have completed sex offender treatment. Iowa Code Section 903A.2(1)(a)(2). Thus, successful completion of treatment, a requirement for modification, results in a lower likelihood of re-offending.

Moreover, according to Mr. Becher's evaluation, the research shows that the more time a person is offense free in the community, the lower their recidivism rate⁹. A person on the registry cannot apply immediately to be removed. Lower level offenders (Tier I) must wait two years and more serious offenders (Tiers II and III) must wait five years from release to apply. Thus, the longer a person is on the registry, offense free, the lower the likelihood of reoffending.

⁹ Presumably, just as the Court found it reasonable to assume that the legislature was cognizant of the research presented in <u>A.J.M.</u>, so too is it reasonable to presume the same in this case.

Unlike §692A.103(3), the legislature spells out primary considerations modification – the likelihood of reoffending. Thus, it stands only to reason that the purpose of this statute is to relieve those persons who are not likely to reoffend from the requirement to register. In fact, the Iowa Court of Appeals said as much, in an unrelated constitutional challenge to Chapter 692A.

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