IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

No. 20-0353

DUBUQUE COUNTY NO. CVCV110001

DENNIS BECHER,

APPLICANT-APPELLANT,

v.

STATE OF IOWA,

RESPONDENT-APPELLEE.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR DUBUQUE COUNTY THE HONORABLE MICHAEL J. SHUBATT

APPELLEE STATE OF IOWA'S FINAL BRIEF AND CONDITIONAL REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

THOMAS J. MILLER ATTORNEY GENERAL OF IOWA

JOHN R. LUNDQUIST Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Fl. Des Moines, Iowa 50319 Ph: (515) 281-3658

E-mail: john.lundquist@ag.iowa.gov ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE

STATE OF IOWA

Fax: (515) 281-4209

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT REASONABLY EXERCISED ITS VAST DISCRETION IN DENYING MODIFICATION OF BECHER'S SEX OFFENDER REGISTRATION REQUIREMENT.

A. Standard of Review.

Iowa Code section 692A.128 "grants the district court authority to modify [sex offender] registration obligations if certain conditions are met." *State v. Wallace,* No. 15-1448, 2016 WL 6636681 at *2 (Iowa Ct. App., Nov. 9, 2016) (*quoting State v. Iowa Dist. Court for Story Cnty.*, 843 N.W.2d 76, 77 (Iowa 2014)). The District Court's conclusions on whether an applicant has satisfied the mandatory statutory prerequisites are reviewed for errors of law and the underlying fact findings for substantial evidence. *Wallace*, 2016 WL 6636681 at *2.

If an applicant satisfies the statutory preconditions, the District Court "may modify the registration requirements." Iowa Code § 692A.128(5) (emphasis added). Because the authority conferred by this provision is clearly discretionary, the District Court's ultimate conclusion granting or denying a modification application is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Wallace, 2016 WL 6636681 at *2. "An abuse of discretion occurs when a district court exercises its discretion on grounds or for reasons clearly untenable or to an extent clearly unreasonable." State v. Wilson, 878 N.W.2d 203, 210-11 (Iowa 2016).

B. Preservation of Error.

Becher filed an application for modification of his sex offender registry requirements and obtained the District Court's ruling upon that application. (*See* Application; 1/14/2020 Ruling; App. 4-5; 6-8). Becher subsequently filed for reconsideration of the District Court's ruling arguing that the District Court applied an incorrect legal standard and failed to give proper consideration to his risk assessment results. (*See* Motion to Reconsider; 1/29/2020 Ruling; App. 9-10). The question of whether the District Court abused its discretion in denying Becher's application for modification is accordingly preserved for appellate review.

C. Argument.

The District Court reasonably denied Becher's application for modification of his sex offender registration requirement. In so doing, it properly rejected Becher's contention that a registrant's risk to reoffend alone should inform a court's determination as to whether a section 692A.128 modification is appropriate. Instead, the District Court gave appropriate consideration to not only Becher's risk assessments, but also the underlying facts of his criminal offense and the lack of a compelling reason justifying the intrusion upon public safety a modification would pose.

Overview of Sex Offender Registry

The Iowa Department of Public Safety is mandated by law to maintain a central registry of information collected from persons required by Iowa law to register as sex offenders. Iowa Code § 692A.118. Persons convicted of any of the statutorily delineated criminal offenses involving sexual misconduct, including sexual abuse, shall register as sex offenders in the state of Iowa. Iowa Code §§ 692A.102, 692A.103. In most cases, a person convicted of a qualifying sex offense is required to register for a minimum period of ten years. Iowa Code §§ 692A.103(1), 692A.106(1). However, because his offense is characterized as an "aggravated offense" under Iowa law, Becher is required to register as a sex offender for life. *See* Iowa Code

§ 692A.106(5) ("A sex offender shall . . . upon conviction of an aggravated offense . . . register for life."); *see also* Iowa Code § 692A.2(3) (1999 Supp.).

This Court has held that the purpose of Iowa Code chapter 692A is clear: "to require registration of sex offenders and thereby protect society from those who because of probation, parole, or other release are given access to members of the public." *In re S.M.M.*, 558 N.W.2d 405, 408 (Iowa 1997); see also State v. Iowa Dist. Court for Story Cnty., 843 N.W.2d 76, 81 (Iowa 2014) ("the purpose of the registry is protection of the health and safety of individuals, and particularly children, from individuals who, by virtue of probation, parole, or other release, have been given access to members of the public"); State v. Pickens, 558 N.W.2d 396, 400 (Iowa 1997) ("the statute was motivated by concern for public safety, not to increase the punishment"). Thus, Iowa Code chapter 692A's registration requirements were not enacted to punish adult perpetrators like Becher, but to promote public safety through the dissemination of information.¹ See, e.g., State v. Aschbrenner, 926 N.W.2d 240, 248 (Iowa 2019); *Pickens*, 558 N.W.2d at 400; *In re S.M.M.*, 558 N.W.2d at 408. Therefore, any alleged ambiguities in Iowa's sex offender

¹ This Court, however, has found Iowa's sex offender registration statute punitive as to juvenile offenders. *In re T.H.*, 913 N.W.2d 578, 596 (Iowa 2018).

law or uncertainties as to its application to a particular offender should be resolved in favor of furthering public safety by requiring continued registration. Iowa Code § 4.4(5) ("Public interest is favored over any private interest"); see Teamsters Local Union No. 421 v. City of Dubuque, 706 N.W.2d 709, 717 (Iowa 2005).

Registration Modification

Persons required to be registered as sex offenders in the state of Iowa can make application to the district court in their county of residence for modification of their registration requirements. Iowa Code § 692A.128. Among the requirements that must be met before an applicant's request for modification can be granted are that "[t]he sex offender has successfully completed all sex offender treatment programs that have been required," that "[a] risk assessment has been completed and the sex offender was classified as a low risk to reoffend;" and "[t]he sex offender is not incarcerated when the application is filed." Iowa Code § 692A.128(1)(b), (c) & (d). For persons classified as a Tier III sex offender like Becher, five years must have elapsed since the commencement of their registration requirement. Iowa Code § 692A.128(1)(a); (see 1/3/2020 Transcript at p. 6, 11. 9-11). Lastly, persons subject to ongoing corrections supervision must also procure a stipulation from the judicial district department of correctional services agreeing to the modification. Iowa Code § 692A.128(1)(e).

The State does not contest that Becher has demonstrated each of the applicable preconditions for seeking modification of his sex offender registration requirement. Becher's registration requirement commenced ten years prior to his application for modification. See Iowa Code § 692A.128(1)(a). He has completed all required sex offender treatment. See Iowa Code § 692A.128(1)(b). He submitted with his application the results of a validated risk assessment approved by the Iowa Department of Corrections that found him to be at low risk to reoffend. See Iowa Code § 692A.128(1)(c). Becher was released from prison in 2009. See Iowa Code § 692A.128(1)(d). The stipulation of the Judicial District Department of Correctional Services was not required because Becher discharged his sentence in 2009 and he is no longer subject to corrections supervision. See Iowa Code § 692A.128(6).

Becher's contention, however, that mere demonstration of the above criteria creates a presumption of entitlement to modification of his sex offender registration absent the State demonstrating such a modification would pose an undue risk to the public is belied by the plain language of the statute and must be rejected. Rather, as the Legislature has unambiguously

instructed, once the requisite eligibility criteria are established, the District Court *may*—but is not compelled to—modify any registration requirements applicable to the applying offender. Iowa Code § 692A.128(5) ("The [district] court *may* modify the registration requirements under this chapter."); *see Wallace*, 2016 WL 6636681 at *2 ("The authority conferred by this provision is clearly discretionary."); *see also State v. Adams*, 554 N.W.2d 686, 690 (Iowa 1996) ("use of the word "may" shows the legislature's intention to confer a discretionary power, not to impose a requirement"); *State ex rel. Lankford v. Allbee*, 544 N.W.2d 639, 641 (Iowa 1996) ("word "may" indicates that the director has discretion"); Iowa Code § 4.1(30)(c) ("The word "may" confers a power.").

Nor was the District Court required to defer solely to the final risk assessment scoring in determining whether to grant Becher his requested modification. Such an interpretation would again render the District Court's delegated discretion under the statute without meaning. *See Iowa Comprehensive Petroleum Underground Storage Tank Fund Bd. v. Shell Oil Co.*, 606 N.W.2d 376, 380 (Iowa 2000) ("When construing the statute, we read the language used, and give effect to every word."). Had the Legislature intended such a result, it would have commanded that the District Court *shall* modify the registration requirements of any eligible sex offender who was

deemed to be at low risk to reoffend on a validated assessment. *Shell Oil Co.*, 606 N.W.2d at 379 ("A court determines intent from "what the legislature said, not from what it might or should have said.").

Instead, the Iowa Code grants the District Court wide latitude in determining what evidence, if any, to take concerning the merits of an application for modification. See Iowa Code § 692A.128(4) ("The court may, but is not required to, conduct a hearing on the application to hear any evidence deemed appropriate by the court."). This authorization allows it to hear, and therefore consider, any evidence it deems appropriate. Id. Thus, in addition to assessed risk, the District Court can reasonably rely upon any number of factors, including examining a person's underlying offenses and current circumstances, to determine whether, in its informed opinion, modification of any particular sex offender's registration requirements would unduly place public safety at risk or otherwise undermine the purposes of the registry statute without appropriate cause. The District Court's inquiry under section 692A.128 is in no way limited to only addressing a sex offender's potential risk to reoffend and any ongoing danger they may pose.

The District Court, therefore, did not error in rejecting Becher's invitation to apply the registration waiver structure applicable to juvenile offenders to adult offenders like himself. *Compare* Iowa Code § 692A.103(3)

with Iowa Code § 692A.128. The waiver provision of Iowa Code section 692A.103(3) "gives the juvenile court discretion to excuse an eligible juvenile from the registration requirement." *In re A.J.M.*, 847 N.W.2d 601, 605 (Iowa 2014). Waiver is only available if "the juvenile court 'finds' in its discretion that the eligible juvenile is not likely to reoffend." *In re A.J.M.*, 847 N.W.2d at 606. As this Court itself has already observed, "[t]here is no companion waiver provision for adult sex offenders" *In re A.J.M.*, 847 N.W.2d at 605. Consequently, interpretations of the waiver provision for juvenile offenders does not inform how the District Court should interpret and apply the modification provisions of section 692A.128.

Because modification is a separate issue from waiver, section 692A.128 is more akin to the modification/suspension provisions of Iowa Code section 692A.103(5) that are applicable to juvenile offenders who are not initially excused from registering as sex offenders. *See In re A.J.M.*, 847 N.W.2d at 608. Thus, as discussed above, at a modification hearing, "factors in addition to the likelihood of reoffending become relevant." *Id*.

Furthermore, this Court has repeatedly recognized that "children are constitutionally different from adults." *See, e.g., State v. Sweet*, 879 N.W.2d 811, 833 (Iowa 2016). Consequently, the registration of juvenile sex offenders "is readily distinguishable based on the unique concerns of juvenile

offenders that are inapplicable to adult offenders. Adult offenders are better able to meaningfully reintegrate into the community and interact with their peer groups notwithstanding the restrictions in the sex offender registration statute" *Aschbrenner*, 926 N.W.2d at 248. It is therefore unquestioned that there are significant public policy reasons justifying treatment of adult offenders differently than juvenile offenders. *See, e.g., State v. Bruegger*, 773 N.W.2d 862 (Iowa 2009).

Discretion Reasonably Applied

While the discretion to deny an application for modification is undoubtedly not without limits, the District Court did not abuse its discretion in this case as the factors it weighed were sufficiently correlated to the public safety goals of Iowa Code chapter 692A to reasonably justify the denial of Becher's request. *Cf. State v. McNeal*, 897 N.W.2d 697, 710 (Iowa 2017) (Cady, C.J., concurring specially) ("Discretion expresses the notion of latitude."). As noted above, the sex offender registry exists to enhance public safety by facilitating the dissemination of information to the community at large. *E.g.*, *Aschbrenner*, 926 N.W.2d at 247-48. Before agreeing to foreclose the public's access to Becher's conviction information through the sex offender registry, the District Court properly sought to inventory Becher's

background and circumstances in an effort to determine whether an adequate reason existed to justify such a modification.

The District Court reasonably determined that the offenses for which Becher was convicted do matter to the calculus of whether he should be relieved of his ongoing registration requirements. In view of the nature of his criminal behavior, the District Court reasonably viewed his application for modification with a degree of scrutiny that someone else convicted of a lesser offense may not warrant. For example, compared to someone who engaged in a single act of indecent exposure, the harm Becher repeatedly imposed upon his nine-year old victim over a year period was exponentially magnified. The societal interest in preventing similar harm to others is equally enhanced.

Furthermore, the modification statute requires notice be provided, if possible, to a sex offender's victims. *See* Iowa Code § 692A.128(4). This is presumably so that a court, when contemplating any requested registration modification, may hear and weigh evidence of the harm and lasting injury a sex offender inflicted upon them.

The District Court also noted that Becher's risk assessments did not uniformly score at low risk to reoffend. (1/14/2020 Ruling at pp. 1-2; App. 6-7). This finding is supported by the record as the updated Static 99-R performed for Becher found him to be at level II or "below average risk" to

reoffend, not level I or "very low risk." (Exhibit A at pp. 2-3; Conf. App. 6-7). While the commentary attached to the Judicial District Department of Correctional Services' scoring summary surmises that an offender's risk of reoffending likely goes down with time, the actual scoring on the Static 99-R does not change—*i.e.*, it remains static. So, while the Judicial District Department of Correctional Services found that Becher overall was considered to be at low risk to reoffend and therefore eligible to seek modification, the District Court was not wrong in observing that the assessments were not unanimous in this finding.

Additionally, unlike some registered sex offenders, Becher is not struggling to find a place to live or to obtain necessary medical or vocational services due to his registry requirements. Becher is gainfully employed as an over-the-road truck driver, has never experienced prolonged periods of unemployment since his release from prison, can freely travel, and has recently purchased a home. (1/3/2020 Transcript at p.4, ll. 5-18; p. 9, ll. 16-20; p. 10, ll. 5-10; p. 15, l. 25 – p. 16, l. 5; Conf. App. 13; 18; 19; 24-25). The District Court did not error in observing that simple inconvenience with the obligations and restrictions attendant with his sex offender registration status without more was not a compelling reason to grant his modification petition. (1/14/2020 Ruling at p. 2; App. 7).

As the petitioning party seeking to either modify or eliminate his ongoing sex offender registration obligation, Becher bore the burden of establishing sufficient reasons existed for the Court to act. See Iowa R. App. P. 6.904(3)(e). The State was not required to prove Becher posed an ongoing risk to public safety. Because continued registration and public dissemination of information is the preferred means to facilitate the legislature's public safety goals for enacting and maintaining the sex offender registry, the District Court reasonably declined to exercise its discretion to grant Becher's modification petition in the absence of demonstrated good cause. (1/14/2020 Ruling at 2; App. 7). As the District noted, the mere fact that Becher went to prison, served his sentence and complied with his treatment requirements "is not in and of itself, a justification for removing the registry requirement." (1/14/2020 Ruling at 2; App. 7).

CONCLUSION

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